# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/1/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

(Court of Appeals No. 37747-4-III)

101241-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BROCK MASLONKA and DIANE MASLONKA, a marital community,

Plaintiffs/Appellants/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

### PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF PEND OREILLE COUNTY,

Defendant/Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

ELIZABETH A. TELLESSEN, WSBA #36732 BEVERLY L. ANDERSON, WSBA #14593 WINSTON & CASHATT, LAWYERS, P.S. 601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1900 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 838-6131

Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent/ Cross-Appellant

#### 1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Public Utility District No. 1 of Pend Oreille County ("PUD") is a non-profit public utility that owns and operates Box Canyon Dam. The dam is a hydroelectric project on the Pend Oreille River, which has provided power to the citizens of Pend Oreille County since 1955.

#### 2. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION.

On March 3, 2022, Division III issued a published opinion in Cause No. 37747-4-III, reversing summary dismissal of the Maslonkas' claims against the PUD as to Parcel 2, and remanding those for trial. The court affirmed the dismissal of all claims as to Parcel 1. The PUD moved for reconsideration, which was denied, but engendered a withdrawal of the opinion and the substitution of a new opinion on August 2, 2022. The PUD seeks discretionary review of the portion of the Court of Appeals' opinion regarding the law of inverse condemnation and the subsequent purchaser rule. Maslonka v. Public Utility PUD No. 1 of Pend Oreille County, 514 P.3d 203, 227-230 (2022).

#### 3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1) Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with the well-settled law of standing by shifting the burden of proof to the PUD?
- 2) Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with and harm the public interest by relieving a subsequent purchaser of its burden to prove new governmental conduct during its ownership in order to bring a new claim of inverse condemnation?
- 3) Does the Court of Appeals' decision cause substantial harm to the public interest by allowing a subsequent purchaser, who cannot prove a claim for inverse condemnation, to bring tort claims for the alleged taking?

#### 4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Maslonkas. The PUD was formed by the voters of Pend Oreille County in 1936. The PUD constructed Box Canyon Dam and began operating it in 1955. Respondents, Brock and Dianne Maslonka, purchased their property along the Pend Oreille River in 1993 – nearly forty years after Box Canyon Dam

began operating – and sued the PUD in 2016, alleging that the PUD's operation of the dam results in an unlawful taking. The Maslonkas have never presented more than conclusory allegations that the PUD changed its operation of the dam, causing a "new" taking. In fact, the Maslonkas are subsequent purchasers and do not have standing to make a claim for inverse condemnation.

At no point through the extensive discovery, two summary judgment motions, or on appeal have the Maslonkas identified any nexus between the operations of the dam since 1993 and the damages they allege to have suffered. (CP 886-887) They complain about the continued erosion of their shoreline (CP1045-1046, 1425), but Washington law does not permit them a claim for inverse condemnation unless there is also new governmental action. It is well established that each new flood, without new government action, does not give rise to a new claim for inverse condemnation. See, Hoover v. Pierce County, 79 Wn. App. 427, 903 P.2d 464 (1995).

The Dam. The PUD has operated the dam consistently since 1955<sup>1</sup>— operations are continuous until the river reaches elevation 2041<sup>2</sup> at the Cusick Gauge<sup>3</sup>. (CP 114-117, 255, 337, 666, 513-515) The elevation of the river at the Cusick Gauge is important because it is equivalent to the elevation of the river at the Maslonkas' property. (CP 485)

The PUD purchased easements to flood the privately owned shorelines up to elevation 2035.5 in 1960. (CP 328-333) These easements covered the majority of the flooding caused by the dam, but not the increase in flooding that occurs during the natural high water season (April through July). (CP 1412) There is no dispute the dam increases the frequency of flooding during the high-water season. (CP 99-100) The river flows and floods

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Box Canyon Dam began operating in July 1955. Its first full-year and first full high-water season occurred in 1956.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Elevation is measured as feet above mean sea level, and abbreviated at El. throughout.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Cusick Gauge" is the USGS gauge located at river mile 70.1, which has been logging the elevation of the Pend Oreille River since July 1955. The gauge data is publicly available and in the record at CP 968-1027, 898-903.

its banks without interference from the dam only after the river reaches El. 2041 at the Cusick Gauge. (CP 116, 255)

J. Lester and Florine Sullivan owned Parcel 2 when the dam was built and sold easements to the PUD. (CP 328-333) Parcel 2 was sold three times before it was purchased by Brock and Dianne Maslonka in 1993. (CP 127-141)

To explore the strength of Maslonkas' claim of inverse condemnation, the PUD put forward evidence of the changes that had occurred at the dam since 1993: new project boundary (1999), a drawdown limitation (2005)<sup>4</sup>, and new gates and turbines (2015). The drawdown limitation is the first and only operational change since 1963. The PUD's expert concluded that these changes did not have a quantifiable effect on the flooding of the Maslonkas' property. (CP 102) The Maslonkas' did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> With the "drawdown limitation" the dam must operate so that the river's elevation, as measured at the dam, shall not change at a rate that exceeds three inches per hour. (CP 255) The purpose of the drawdown limitation is "to minimize the fluctuation of the Box Canyon reservoir surface elevation." <u>Id.</u> Due to the river's topography, the drawdown limitation does not have any quantifiable effect on the river's elevation at the Cusick gauge. (CP 69, 105, ¶ 5)

put forward any conflicting evidence, and the trial court properly granted summary judgment.

The Court of Appeals' Decision. The Court of Appeals finds the Maslonkas may pursue a claim of inverse condemnation based on the fallacy that the PUD's "action" is the flooding of the Maslonkas' property. Maslonka, 514 P.3d at 227. There should be no mistake, the PUD's action is operating Box Canyon Dam, the flooding is the *result* of that action. The evidence is plain and uncontroverted, the dam is in constant operation until the river's elevation reaches El. 2041. (CP 513-515) The PUD conceded (for purposes of summary judgment and appeal) that its operation of the dam results in flooding of the river's shorelines above El. 2035.5 to El. 2041 at every opportunity. The PUD concedes for purposes of review that operation of the dam results in a taking of private property above El. 2035.5 to El. 2041, and this has been true since 1956.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals' opinion provides that the PUD must "prove that it permanently reduced the value of

the Maslonkas' property" before their purchase. Maslonka, 514 P.3d at 227. This creates the impossible (and irrelevant) burden of establishing the value of the property before the dam came into operation in 1955; the value after operations began; and then the value each time the property was sold or flooded. The Court of Appeals focuses its reasoning on the testimony of Mr. Maslonka, and what he knew of the flooding at the time of his purchase. Maslonka, 514 P.3d at 228. It is true that Mr. Maslonka's knowledge is minimal, even after owning the property for more than 20 years, but his lack of knowledge is not a lack of evidence.

The record establishes, without conflict, that the dam is in constant operation until the river's elevation exceeds El. 2041 at the Cusick Gauge. (CP 513-515) There is no genuine dispute that the PUD's operation of the dam results in flooding and taking of the shoreline above El. 2035.5 to El. 2041. While this taking is seasonal and may vary from year-to-year, after 66 years in operation (and 33 more years to operate under its current license

(CP 242)) it is undeniably "permanent" for purposes of this analysis.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals concludes "the PUD must show that its operations began causing damage above 2035.5 feet prior to 1993." Maslonka, 514 P.3d at 228. The Maslonkas entire case is built on the fact that the dam causes flooding and erosion above the express easement. The undisputed evidence identifies both the frequency of flooding above El. 2035.5 and the precise elevation of the flooding at the Cusick Gauge on each day during the high-water season from 1956-1993, and throughout the Maslonkas' ownership. (CP 968-1027, 898-903)

The Court of Appeals ignores the evidence and speculates that "if the PUD can only prove that it caused flooding up to for example 2037 feet (instead of 2041) prior to 1993, then the Maslonkas will still have a new takings cause of action...," and that "[i]t is not inconceivable to think that the PUD altered or expanded its operations as a result of [its license amendments] in

such a way to cause new damage..." Maslonka, 514 P.3d at 228. There is no need for speculation. The evidence clearly establishes every taking above El. 2035.5 and through El. 2041 for the last 66 years. This speculation is error that creates confusion regarding the burden of proof to establish standing and a new claim of inverse condemnation and must be reversed.

#### 5. ARGUMENT.

Review is necessary in this case to avoid the confusion created by the Court of Appeals decision, which conflicts with bed rock law that a subsequent purchaser lacks standing to bring an inverse condemnation claim as a matter of law. In addition there is a substantial public interest in ensuring that only new claims for inverse condemnation be permitted, not stale claims for new damage arising from the same governmental conduct. See, RAP 13.4(b) (1-4).

The PUD established the only fact relevant to the subsequent purchaser rule: that the Maslonkas are in fact

subsequent purchasers, and thus lack standing as a matter of law. The evidentiary burden then shifted back to the Maslonkas to bring forward evidence demonstrating: (1) some new governmental action beginning after their purchase, and (2) that the new action causes a decline in the value of their property. See, Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (burden shifting on summary judgment).

Neither the Maslonkas, nor the court on appeal, can rely on mere speculation "to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial..." Id.; and see Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). The Maslonkas have offered no proof that the PUD undertook new action that caused a decline in the value of their property. The Court of Appeals improperly shifts the burden of proof to the PUD, asserting that it must prove the damage that occurred before the Maslonkas purchased their property.

5.1 The Court of Appeals improperly shifted the burden of proof to the PUD to establish a subsequent purchaser lacks standing to pursue a claim of inverse condemnation.

It is a well-settled proposition that standing is an issue of law to be determined by the court. Pac. Marine Ins. Co. v. State, 181 Wn. App. 730, 740, 329 P.3d 101 (2014) (standing is a threshold issue to review as a question of law; a claimant must establish that injury has occurred to a legally protected right). The United States Supreme Court guides us through the quantum of evidence necessary to establish standing at each phase of litigation:

At the **pleading stage**, general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant's conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss we presume that general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim. In response to a **summary judgment motion**, however, the plaintiff can no longer rest on such mere allegations, but must set forth by affidavit or other evidence specific facts, which for purposes of the summary judgment motion will be taken to be true. And at the **final stage**, those facts (if controverted) must be supported adequately by the evidence adduced at trial.

<u>Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife</u>, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992) (internal quotation and citation omitted, emphasis added).

The subsequent purchaser rule is the doctrine of standing for a claim of inverse condemnation. As a matter of law, a subsequent purchaser has no standing to sue for inverse condemnation based on governmental action that existed prior to his ownership. Hoover v. Pierce County, 79 Wn. App. 427, 433, 903 P.2d 464 (1995) ("a grantee or purchaser cannot sue for a taking or injury occurring prior to his acquisition of title").

An inverse condemnation claim, as opposed to the government's affirmative action to condemn private property for the public benefit, "shifts to the property owner the burden of discovering the encroachment and taking affirmative action to recover just compensation, underscoring the critical point that the plaintiff in an inverse condemnation suit must first establish as a threshold matter standing to argue entitlement to compensation." See "Standing of Property Owners and Others with Interest in Affected Real Property to Initiate or Participate

in Eminent Domain and Inverse Condemnation Actions," 138 Am. Jur. POF 3d 301, §2 (2014) [citing <u>U.S. v. Clarke</u>, 445 U.S. 253 (1980), *emphasis added*].

In <u>Hoover</u>, the plaintiff landowners filed an inverse condemnation action against Pierce County, seeking to recover damages for flooding allegedly caused by the construction of a roadway and cross-culvert. <u>Hoover</u>, 79 Wn. App. at 433. Pierce County sought dismissal of the inverse condemnation claim on the grounds that the road and culvert were constructed in 1972, before plaintiff purchased his property, depriving the plaintiff of standing to assert inverse condemnation. The trial court rejected the county's argument, but the Court of Appeals reversed on the grounds that the county had not taken any new action after plaintiff's purchase of the property, "no new taking cause of action has arisen." <u>Id.</u> at 436.

Moreover, the <u>Hoover</u> Court specifically rejected the plaintiff's argument that he should be able to recover for flood damage occurring after his purchase, and held that a new taking

cause of action did not arise with each flood. 79 Wn. App. at 435-36. Although the court reviewed the evidence showing the existence of the prior taking, that review is not an element in its analysis of the subsequent purchaser rule. <u>Id.</u> at 431. The subsequent purchaser rule stands alone to bar a claim of inverse condemnation unless the plaintiff shows "additional governmental action causing a measurable decline in market value." <u>Id.</u> at 436.

This rule has been reaffirmed over and over. The Court in Crystal Lotus Enterprises v. City of Shoreline, 167 Wn. App. 501, 504-505, 274 P.3d 1054 (2012), dismissed the inverse condemnation claim holding that "the price of property is deemed to reflect its condition at the time of the sale, including any injury because of government interference." Id. at 505. That court relied on Hoover, and did not require the city to prove the scope or nature of the prior taking. Dismissal was appropriate as a matter of law because the plaintiff failed to show an "event"

during its ownership upon which Crystal Lotus can base a takings claim." <u>Id</u>.

Similarly, in Wolfe v. Dep't of Transp., 173 Wn. App. 302, 293 P.3d 1244 (2013), the Court affirmed summary dismissal of plaintiff's inverse condemnation claim, which asserted reconstruction of a bridge in 1986 had caused ongoing erosion of his shoreline property following his purchase in 2003. Wolfe follows Hoover, and finds that in order "[t]o bypass the subsequent purchaser rule, a new taking cause of action requires additional governmental action causing a measurable decline in market value." Id. at 308 (internal quotation omitted). The court in Wolfe did not place the burden on the state to come forward with evidence of the scope of the taking that occurred prior to the purchase. Rather, the burden of proof remained with the plaintiffs to show "that they have suffered any loss compensable under their inverse condemnation claim." Id. at 309.

More recently in <u>Tan Phu Cuong Inv. LLC v. King</u> <u>County</u>, 831 Fed. App'x 235, 237 (9th Cir. 2020), it was held that an inverse condemnation claim "does not pass to subsequent purchasers...who are **presumed** to have been compensated for the invasion through a reduced purchase price." <u>Id.</u> at 237, <u>citing</u> <u>Wolfe</u>, 173 Wn. App. 302 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals' decision is confusing and harmful when compared to the plain holdings of Hoover, Crystal Lotus, Wolfe, and Tan Phu Cuong Inv. The issue of standing has been remanded to the trial court, in order for the PUD to prove the scope of the taking and the permanent reduction of the property's value prior to purchase by the Maslonkas. This ignores and runs counter to the plain and well established law that the subsequent purchaser has no legal right to compensation for a taking that existed at the time of purchase. The Court of Appeals places the burden on the PUD to establish "each measurable or provable decline in market value of the property," to include the exact flooding each year, because "it is the PUD's burden to prove damage prior to Maslonkas' tenure if the PUD is to receive the benefit of the subsequent purchaser rule." Maslonka, 514 P.3d at 228.

Court of Appeals may have misperceived the issue here as one of statute of limitations for the purpose of *when* a taking occurs. It relies on <u>Blasdel v. Montana Power Co.</u>, 196 Mont. 417, 640 P.2d 889 (1982), to assert that the PUD's burden is to show the "degree" of flooding and damage. But, <u>Blasdel</u> is inapplicable and unpersuasive because it addresses only the accrual of an inverse condemnation claim in the first instance, and not standing under the subsequent purchaser rule.

In this case, the PUD proved operation of the dam has remained consistent since 1955, with continuous operations effecting the river until it reaches El. 2041. There is no dispute that there has been and continues to be flooding of the Maslonkas' property between El. 2035.5 and El. 2041; and the PUD did not pay just compensation to any prior owner for the flooding that occurs between El. 2035.5 and El. 2041.

Well-settled Washington law **presumes** that the Maslonkas' purchase price accounted for the PUD's takings between El. 2035.5 and El. 2041. See Hoover, 79 Wn. App. at 434 (price of property sold after a taking is "deemed" to reflect its condition at the time of sale, and the price either "did reflect or should have reflected the diminished value of the land"); and Wolfe, 173 Wn. App. at 308-09 (price of the property "presumed" to reflect diminished value). Thus, there is no just compensation due from the PUD to the Maslonkas, absent a new taking.

If this decision is not reviewed by the Supreme Court prior to remand, it will stand in direct contradiction to the established subsequent purchaser rule. The burden of proof will shift to the defendant, and a question of law will become an issue of fact. This will result in confusion at trial in this matter, and in the analysis of the subsequent purchaser rule in cases to come. Moreover, the public interest is offended by requiring public

agencies to defend the claims of subsequent purchasers for takings that occurred decades prior to their purchase.

5.2 The Court of Appeals' opinion relieves a subsequent purchaser of its obligation to provide evidence of new governmental conduct, permitting new claims for decades old conduct, to the detriment of the public interest.

In order for a subsequent purchaser to make a bona fide claim of inverse condemnation it must put forth evidence of a new taking, which demands "additional governmental action causing a measurable decline in market value." <u>Hoover</u>, 79 Wn. App. at 436; <u>Wolfe</u>, 173 Wn. App. at 308.

Upon the sale of land affected by governmental interference, the law presumes that the value paid for the land by a subsequent purchaser takes into account the diminished value caused by the government's taking. Hoover, 79 Wn. App. at 434. In this way, the law precludes a subsequent purchaser from double recovery: the benefit of a lower purchase price; and the right to claim damages arising from the governmental interference that pre-dated the purchase. The law protects

subsequent purchasers by permitting a new inverse condemnation claim, but only in the event that new action by the government causes new damage. <u>Id.</u>, at 433. Thus, the gravamen of a new claim is new action by the government.

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