FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/30/2022 9:53 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101241-1 (Court of Appeals No. 37747-4-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BROCK MASLONKA and DIANE MASLONKA, a marital community,

Plaintiffs/Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF PEND OREILLE COUNTY,

Defendant/Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD T. WETMORE, WSBA #40396 DUNN & BLACK, P.S. 111 North Post, Suite 300 Spokane, WA 99201 Phone: (509) 455-8711

E-mail: rwetmore@dunnandblack.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs/

Appellants/Cross-Respondents

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

Brock and Diane Maslonka, ("Maslonkas"),
Appellant/Cross-Respondents below, offer this Answer to
Petitioner Public Utility District No. 1 of Pend Oreille County's
("PUD") Petition for Review.

II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This is a case riddled with material questions of fact which must be decided at trial by a jury. Indeed, the PUD has not and cannot establish a governmental taking prior to the Maslonkas' purchase of the property in 1993 for the very same reasons that the PUD is unable to establish its purported prescriptive easement.¹

Specifically, the PUD has not provided any evidence establishing, if, when, how often, or to what extent the Dam's operations <u>caused</u> the River to flood and damage the Maslonkas' property prior to 1993. The PUD's sole reliance

¹ Notably, the PUD' Petition for Review does not challenge the Court of Appeals holding finding material questions of fact related to the PUD's assertion of a prescriptive easement.

upon the Dam's existence since 1955 and river elevation logs, which do not differentiate between natural occurring elevations and those induced by the Dam's operation, does not satisfy the PUD's burden. Furthermore, as set forth below, there are material questions of fact regarding the PUD's subsequent conduct and changed operational parameters since 1993.

Thus, the Court of Appeals properly recognized the myriad of material questions of fact which must each be determined at trial.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Maslonkas' Property

In 1993, the Maslonkas purchased 535 acres of property outside of Cusick, Washington. (CP 461-464). They purchased the property from Herb Cordes to use for farming. <u>Id</u>. The property lies east of Highway 20 and is bordered by the Pend Oreille River ("River") to the west. <u>Id</u>.

Since purchasing the property, the Maslonkas have continuously lived on and farmed the property. (CP 459-460,

466). They grow cash crop Timothy hay and maintain pasture lands to feed between 20 and 100 head of cattle. (CP 464-465, CP 473-474, CP 475). The Maslonkas' property includes approximately 1 mile of river frontage between River Mile 68 and 69. (CP 1123).

B. <u>Box Canyon Dam</u>

In 1952, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") issued the original operating license for Box Canyon Dam ("the Dam"). (CP 199). The original FERC license required the PUD to compensate private land owners for any damage caused by the Dam's operation. (CP 1754). In 1955, the PUD completed construction of the Dam. (CP 74). Prior to the Dam's construction, the River's "natural high water mark" (as measured at the town of Cusick) [was] 2,028 feet msl." (CP 1151 n.22).

The Dam now "impounds about 55 miles of the Pend Oreille River to create Box Canyon reservoir, which crosses into Idaho about two miles below Albeni Falls dam." (CP

1147). The Dam's general operations are explained in the following excerpt:

The normal elevation of the water surface at Box Canyon Dam is El. 2030.6. The water surface is controlled by raising the spillway gates whenever the flow in the river exceeds the Project hydraulic capacity of 29,200 cfs. The backwater caused by Box Canyon Dam is also affected by lowering or raising the spillway gates. "Backwater" is the difference between the natural water surfaces elevation (without the dam) and the raised water surface elevation caused by the dam. There is a pronounced backwater effect in the river near the dam and less effect further away from the dam. The river water surface (backwater) can be raised or lowered by controlling the release of water at the dam with either turbine and/or spillway gates. Generally, the spillway gates at Box Canyon Dam are raised when the river flowrate increases, and lowered (put back in place) when the flowrate decreases.

The spillway gates at Box Canyon Dam are operated to meet two constraints for backwater. The first constraint requires that the water surface elevation at Cusick (RM 70.1) not exceed El. 2041.0. The second constraint requires that the encroachment (backwater) on the tailwater of Albeni Falls Dam Hydroelectric Project not exceed 2 feet above natural levels at that point. (Note: Prior to March 1963, the allowable encroachment was 1 foot.) At the calculated flow of 68,000 cubic feet per second (cfs), both

constraints are simultaneously at their limit. For flows less than 68,000 cfs, a 2-foot encroachment at Albeni Falls is maintained with a water surface at Cusick less than El. 2041.0. When flows exceed 68,000 cfs the backwater encroachment at Albeni Falls is reduced below 2 feet to maintain a water surface at Cusick of El. 2041.0. These constraints are met by either removing (raising) or lowering (putting back in place) the spillway gates, which also decreases or increases the water surface elevation at the dam. With all spillway gates completely removed, the water surface at Cusick reaches its limit of El. 2041.0 when the flow in the river reaches about 90,000 cfs. At flows greater than 90,000 cfs, the river becomes regulated by a natural-occurring narrow entrance to Box Canyon located about one-half mile upstream from the dam, and there is no longer any backwater effect due to the project. The canyon's entrance is simply not wide enough to pass all of the flow greater than 90,000 cfs without backing up water. Whenever river flows are at or above 90,000 cfs with the spillway gates completely removed, upstream water levels are the same as before the dam was constructed, and the water elevation at Cusick exceeds El. 2041.0. Thus, the waterline at a river flow of 90,000 cfs establishes the Box Canyon Project boundary line.

(CP 1078-1079)

Prior to March 18, 1963, the Box Canyon Dam allowable backwater effect at Albeni Falls Dam was 1 foot for flows up to 90,000 cfs. On March 18, 1963, the FERC License for Box Canyon Project was amended to allow 2 feet of backwater effect at Albeni Falls Dam. The increased backwater effect produced higher heads for the low to mid range of flows (less than 68,000 cfs); and thus greater power generation capability at Box Canyon.

(CP 1081-1082).

The Dam's backwater effect when running at maximum licensing parameters is exhibited in charts, called backwater curves, which identify the River's elevation at Cusick for specific flow rates in the River's natural state (no Dam) versus its altered state (with the Dam). (CP 1223-1226). These backwater curve charts are intended to be utilized and relied upon by the Dam's operators to ensure the Dam stays within its licensing parameters. (CP 1229-1230). The backwater curves reveal that River elevation 2035.5 occurs naturally at a little over 60,000 cfs, and elevation 2041 is reached at 90,000 cfs. (CP 1225). Conversely, the Dam's full operation causes the River elevation to reach 2035.5 slightly over 34,000 cfs and reaches elevation 2041 at 69,000 cfs. (CP 1223). At flows

greater than 90,000 cfs, the Dam operators must remove all of the Dam's gates, and the Dam has no further impact on the River's elevation until flows drop below 90,000 cfs and the Dam's gates are reinserted. (CP 1235).

The PUD tracks and charts the River's daily flow rates similar to the River's elevation. (CP 1301, 1310-1311). The PUD's own civil engineering expert, Scott Mahnken, relied upon the daily flow records in generating his expert report. (CP 1246). Likewise, he also referenced and relied upon the backwater curves. (CP 1239-40, 1246). Mr. Mahnken utilized the flow logs and the backwater curves, in conjunction, to opine that from 2016-2018 elevation 2035.5 was exceeded a total of 199 days, but that 100 of those days were caused specifically by the Dam's operation. (CP 1246). However, Mr. Mahnken did **not** perform the same detailed analysis of the Dam's historical impact on the Maslonkas' property. (CP 1238-1249). Instead, as noted by the Court of Appeals, Mr. Mahnken and the PUD relied solely upon "historical averages" which vary widely.

Maslonka v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Pend Oreille Cnty., 514 P.3d 203, 227 (Wash. Ct. App. 2022).

Thus, it is clear that the PUD's operation of the Dam does periodically cause the River's surface elevation to exceed river elevation 2035.5 at Cusick. However, contrary to the PUD's representation to this Court that "there is no dispute the dam increases the frequency of flooding during the high-water season", the PUD has repeatedly denied that the PUD causes an increase in the River's elevation or damage to the Maslonkas' property. (Compare CP 12 at ¶ 13; CP 13 at ¶ 17; CP 17 at ¶ 40; with CP 24 at ¶ 13 and ¶17; CP 27 at ¶ 40; also see CP 59; CP 209; CP 837 at n. 4 & 5; CP 853; CP 868-871 at 33:8-36:14; CP 908-910 at 38:24-39:3, 39:24-40:4; CP 1577-1578; CP 1582).

C. The PUD's Property Rights

In 1955, the PUD purchased an easement from the Maslonkas' predecessors in interest. (CP 331-332). The easement allowed the PUD to flood the Maslonkas' property up

to River elevation 2031.3. <u>Id</u>. This easement was consistent with the way in which the PUD operated the Dam at the time. However, in 1960, the PUD purchased an additional easement, which allowed the PUD to flood the Maslonkas' property up to elevation 2035.5. (CP 328-329). It is undisputed that the PUD never purchased any additional easements from the Maslonkas or their predecessors.

Similarly, it is also undisputed that the PUD never initiated condemnation proceedings against the Maslonkas' property. Indeed, an internal PUD memo reveals the PUD has knowingly, intentionally, and strategically chosen **not** to initiate condemnation proceedings against private property owners along the River. (CP 1409). The PUD's memo states, "[t]he District has no plans at this time to begin condemnation proceedings on any private lands along the project reservoir. The landowners may bring a suit against the District, if they wish." Id. The PUD's CR 30(b)(6) witness, testified:

I don't know what the PUD at that time was - -why they did what they did one way or the other. I do know that from a public entity standpoint of condemning land is not looked on very favorable by the public. That might have played into it.

(CP 1412 at 49:11-20)

D. Changes in the PUD's Historical Use

The record contains substantial evidence of the PUD's periodic changes in operation over the decades. In 1955, the PUD's engineer, H.A. Sewell, described the Dam's then operational protocol as follows:

...since the water from Box Canyon Dam is held at 2028 at Cusick from the time that it reaches that elevation naturally after the spring flood until the end of the hay season approximately September 15 to October 1...It is true that when they are dumping water from Albeni Falls Dam the elevation at that point sometimes reaches 2,033 ft., but that is only for short periods of time, and we lower the pond as rapidly as possible to get it back to our average winter level, which is about 2031.3 at that point. This level is maintained as closely as possible during the period of releases from Albeni Falls Dam from the end of the haying season until the natural flood starts to rise in the spring. The natural flood is then handled in the natural manner by opening the gates at Box Canyon and after the flood the water is held down so that the farmers can cut their hay.

(CP 623).

The Dam's modern-day operations do not follow this same procedure. In 1963, the Dam's license was amended to increase the backwater allowance at Albeni Falls from one foot to two feet. (CP 75, 78-79, 935, 1653). An internal PUD memo from 1997, confirms that "historically holding the elevation at Cusick to 2035 or less during the local runoff season has not been a problem (with 2 feet of backwater 2035 at Cusick occurs at a flow of 33,000 cfs)". (CP 1525-26). However, as discussed above, the PUD's own expert confirms that from 2016-2018 the PUD caused the River's elevation to exceed 2035.5 a total of 100 days. (CP 1246).

In 2005, the Dam's operational parameters were changed again to limit the PUD to a maximum drawdown in the River's elevation to a rate of 3 inches per hour. (CP 203). Such a restriction upon the speed with which the River's elevation can

be drawn down necessarily results in the River maintaining a higher elevation for a longer duration. Nevertheless, the PUD repeatedly misrepresents to this Court that the PUD's evidence establishes that the 2005 change in the Dam's operational parameters "did not have a quantifiable effect on the flooding of the Maslonkas' property." Pet. For Review, pg. 21 citing CP 102; also see FN 4, pg. 5 ("Due to the river's topography, the drawdown limitation does not have any quantifiable effect on the river's elevation at the Cusick Gauge." citing CP 69, 105, ¶ 5).

The PUD's expert witness did not offer any opinion at all regarding this change. Mr. Mahnken's opinions were limited to what, if any, affect the PUD's turbine modernization and spillway gate hoist projects had upon the River's elevation. (CP 69 at ¶ 5, CP 102, and CP 105). His analysis was entirely unrelated to the 3 inch per hour draw down limitation imposed by FERC in 2005.

Moreover, the PUD notably continues to ignore that both Lawrence Cordes and Brock Maslonka each testified that the flooding problems had increased and the River's elevation was being held higher for longer periods over the last seven or eight years. (CP 573-574 at 28:17-29:5; CP 167 at 7-18). Finally, the Maslonkas' appraiser, David Sitler, opined that the Maslonkas have suffered a diminution in value of \$159,963 related to the riverbank property. (CP 709). The PUD has offered no expert testimony or evidence refuting this opinion.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly held "it is the PUD's burden to prove damage prior to the Maslonkas' tenure if the PUD is to receive the benefit of the subsequent purchaser rule." Maslonka at 228. Likewise, the Court of Appeals properly determined that the record on appeal is insufficient to make these determinations.

As an initial matter, the PUD misconstrues the "subsequent purchaser" rule as an issue of "standing". Rather,

the rule is an affirmative defense asserted by the PUD against the Maslonkas' claims for inverse condemnation. Indeed, an affirmative defense is "a defendant's assertion raising new facts and arguments that, if true, will defeat the plaintiff's or prosecution's claim, even if all allegations in the complaint are true." Black's Law Dictionary, Abridged 7th Edition, West Group, 2000. It is well settled that the Defendant bears the burden of proof to establish an affirmative defense. Gerlach v. Cove Apartments, LLC, 196 Wn.2d 111, 126 (2020) citing Olpinski v. Clement, 73 Wn.2d 944, 950 (1968) ("Defendant has the burden of proof on the issues of his affirmative defense.").

It is clear the Court of Appeals properly held that the PUD bears the burden of establishing the applicability of the "subsequent purchaser" rule.

Finally, the PUD's argument about standing is a red herring intended to distract from the PUD's shortcomings regarding its burden of proof. "Standing is determined by a two

part test: (1) whether the interest sought to be protected is 'arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question' and (2) whether the petitioners have asserted 'injury in fact'." Rocha v. King Cnty., 195 Wn.2d 412, 419–20 (2020) (internal citations omitted). "Standing is not intended to be a 'high bar' to overcome." Washington Bankers Ass'n v. State, 198 Wn.2d 418, 455 (2021).

It is uncontested that the Maslonkas have owned the subject property continuously since 1993. (CP 127-130; CP 461-464). Similarly, it is undisputed that the Maslonkas have alleged injury to their property. (CP 10-19). Moreover, the Maslonkas have put forth substantial evidence of their damages. (CP 702-709; CP 1123-1142). There is no doubt that the Maslonkas have standing to assert their claims.

A. <u>Material Questions of Fact Exist Regarding the</u> Applicability of the "Subsequent Purchaser" Rule

The "subsequent purchaser" rule stands for the general proposition that a property owner cannot sue for a

governmental taking that occurred before the current owner acquired title to the property. Wolfe v. State Dep't of Transp., 173 Wn. App. 302, 307 (2013). As such, it is axiomatic that the rule requires that an actual governmental taking occur **prior** to ownership!

The PUD ignores this fundamental requirement. Indeed, the PUD argues, "the PUD established the only fact relevant to the subsequent purchaser rule: that the Maslonkas are in fact subsequent purchasers, and thus lack standing as a matter of law." Pet. For Review, pg. 10. This conclusory statement glosses over the obvious question—the Maslonkas were the purchasers "subsequent" to what? The PUD's only apparent answer to this question is "subsequent to the Dam's construction in 1955."

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